
 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CIVIL MINUTES – GENERAL 
  

Case No. LA CV17-07926 JAK (ASx) 
 
Date 

 
July 2, 2019  

Title 
 
Daniela Prodanova v. H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, et al. 

 

Page 1 of 16 
 

 
  
 
Present: The Honorable 

 
JOHN A. KRONSTADT, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

 
Andrea Keifer 

 
 

 
Not Reported  

Deputy Clerk 
 
 

 
Court Reporter / Recorder 

 
Attorneys Present for Plaintiffs: 

 
 

 
Attorneys Present for Defendants: 

 
Not Present 

 
 

 
Not Present 

 
 
Proceedings:  

 
(IN CHAMBERS) ORDER RE DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS 
SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT (DKT. 71) 
JS-6: Oren Livnat Only 

 

I. Introduction 
 
On October 30, 2017, Daniela Prodanova filed this putative class action alleging violations of federal 
securities law. Dkt. 1. On February 6, 2018, Panthera Investment Fund L.P. (“Panthera” or “Plaintiff”) 
was designated as lead plaintiff. Dkt. 37. Panthera filed the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) on 
February 27, 2018. Dkt. 40. The defendants filed a motion to dismiss the FAC on March 26, 2018, and 
the motion was granted without prejudice. Dkts. 44, 58. 
 
On January 9, 2019, Panthera filed the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”). Dkt. 61. It alleges that 
H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“H.C.”), its Chief Executive Officer Mark Viklund (“Viklund”), its Chief 
Operation Officer Edward Silvera (“Silvera”), and one of its analysts, Oren Livnat (“Livnat”) (collectively, 
“Defendants”) sought to inflate the price of shares of MannKind Corporation (“MannKind”). Id. ¶ 1. The 
SAC advances a claim under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, against H.C. and Livnat, and a claim for 
control person liability in violation of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t-1(a), against 
Viklund and Silvera. See id. at 31-35. The SAC alleges that Plaintiff has brought this action on behalf of 
a putative class of “all other persons or entities that purchased MannKind securities between 4:00 AM 
Pacific Time on October 10, 2017 (7:00 AM Eastern Time) and 9:02 PM Pacific Time on October 10, 
2017 (12:02 AM Eastern Time on October 11, 2017).”1 Id. ¶ 1. 
 
On February 6, 2019, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the SAC (“Motion”). Dkt. 71. Panthera filed 
an opposition, and Defendants filed a reply. Dkts. 78, 80. A hearing was held on the Motion on April 15, 
2019, and the matter was taken under submission. 
   
For the reasons stated in this Order, the Motion is GRANTED with prejudice as to Livnat and without 
prejudice as to all other defendants. 
                                                 
1 The period between 4:00 AM Pacific Time and 9:02 PM Pacific Time on October 10, 2017 is defined as the 
Class Period in the SAC. SAC ¶ 1. 
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II. Factual Background 
 

A. The Parties 
 
The SAC alleges that H.C. is a leading investment bank that focuses on the healthcare industry. SAC ¶ 
2. It is also alleged that Livnat is employed by H.C. as a Managing Director and Securities Analyst, and 
that he focuses on equity research related to the pharmaceuticals business. Id. ¶ 18. He allegedly 
authored a report and stock price target recommendation that forms the primary basis for Plaintiff’s 
claims. Id. ¶¶ 1-2.  
 
It is alleged that Viklund is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of H.C. Id. ¶ 16. He allegedly has the 
power and authority to control the contents and timing of reports issued by H.C.’s analysts and to 
control and negotiate the contents of agreements between H.C. and other companies, including 
MannKind. Id. ¶ 7. It is also alleged that he has the authority to control the policies and procedures of 
H.C.’s Compliance Department. Id. ¶ 7. It is further alleged that he is the primary contact for H.C.’s 
Investment Banking Services and Research Services departments. Id. ¶ 14. 
 
It is alleged that Silvera is the Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) of H.C. Id. ¶ 15. He allegedly drafted and 
executed the Placement Agency Agreement between H.C. and MannKind for the stock offering at issue 
in this action. Id. It is also alleged that H.C.’s Compliance Department personnel report to Silvera and 
the Chief Compliance Officer. Id. 
 
Panthera is the lead plaintiff. Id. ¶ 12. It allegedly purchased MannKind securities during the Class 
Period. Id. ¶¶ 1, 12. 
 

B. Substantive Allegations in the SAC 
 
The SAC alleges that MannKind is a publicly-traded biopharmaceutical company headquartered in 
Westlake Village, California. Id. ¶ 28. It is alleged that MannKind researches, develops and 
commercializes inhaled therapeutic products that are used by patients with certain medical conditions. 
Id. The SAC alleges that Affreza, which is an inhaled insulin used to treat diabetes, is presently the only 
FDA-approved product of MannKind. Id. 
 
The SAC alleges that, on October 9, 2017, MannKind’s stock closed at $5.33 per share, on a daily 
trading volume of 13.22 million shares. Id. ¶ 32. It is alleged that, on the following day, H.C. released a 
report, authored by Livnat, entitled “A Breath of New Life with Afrezza Turnaround Story; Initiate with 
Buy and $7 Target” (the “Report”). Id. ¶ 33-36.2 It is alleged that the Report was issued at 4:00 a.m. on 
October 10, 2017. Id. ¶ 33. The Report allegedly assigned a “Buy” rating to MannKind stock and a 
target share price of $7. Id. This price is allegedly 30% higher than the closing price of MannKind stock 

                                                 
2 The Report was submitted as Exhibit O to the Declaration of Adam Itzkowitz, in connection with the previous 
motion to dismiss. Dkt. 44-17. In the December 11, 2018 Order, it was determined that this exhibit was 
incorporated by reference into the FAC. Dkt. 58 at 4; see United States v. Ritchie, 342 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 
2003) (“Even if a document is not attached to a complaint, it may be incorporated by reference into a complaint if 
the plaintiff refers extensively to the document or the document forms the basis of the plaintiff's claim.”). The same 
analysis applies as to the SAC. 
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on the prior trading day. Id. ¶ 33. 
 
The Report allegedly contained certain statements about MannKind. They included that “we and the 
market expect a near-term recapitalization” and that “near-term recapitalization and dilution” would 
occur. Id. ¶ 36. It also noted that “[r]ecapitalizing the company is a primary objective [of] new MannKind 
management, and we expect near-term equity and debt financing to fund continued operations.” Id. 
 
It is alleged that, due to the publication of the Report, including the $7 stock price target, MannKind 
shares rose approximately 26% on October 10, 2017, and closed at $6.71. Id. ¶ 41. It is further alleged 
that MannKind’s trading volume increased to 48.23 million shares. Id. This was allegedly more than 
three times higher than the previous day’s trading volume, and more than nine times the average daily 
volume for the preceding three months. Id. ¶ 41. 
 
The SAC alleges that, at 9:02 p.m. on October 10, 2017, MannKind announced a registered offering of 
common stock at a price of $6 per share (the “Offering”). Id. ¶ 42. It is alleged that H.C. would serve as 
the exclusive placement agent for the Offering, pursuant to an agreement signed by Silvera on behalf of 
H.C., and Michael Castagna, who was MannKind’s CEO. Id. Pursuant to that agreement, MannKind 
allegedly agreed to pay H.C. a cash fee equivalent to 5% of the gross proceeds derived from the 
Offering. Id.  
 
The SAC alleges that, due to the announcement of the Offering, MannKind stock fell 18.5% from $6.71 
to $5.47 per share during trading on October 11, 2017. Id. ¶ 43. 
 
The SAC alleges that, by publishing the Report without disclosing the pending Offering, H.C. 
fraudulently misled investors and artificially inflated MannKind’s stock price during trading on October 
10. See id. ¶¶ 1-7, 48. It is alleged that H.C., Livnat, and Viklund each knew that, less than a day after 
the issuance of the Report, MannKind would announce an Offering at a negotiated price that would be 
materially lower than the target price set forth in the Report. Id. ¶¶ 49-52. 
 
The SAC alleges that H.C.’s Compliance Department knew or should have known of the work of the 
investment banking group on the MannKind Offering as well as Livnat’s Report, prior to the Report’s 
publication. Id. ¶ 52. Thus, it is alleged that the Compliance Department’s knowledge of the activities of 
H.C.’s research personnel and its investment banking personnel is an essential component of the work 
of the Compliance Department that is designed to ensure that the activities of the research department 
do not conflict with those of the investment banking group. Id. 
 
The SAC presents allegations as to the purported expert opinions of Larry Kimmel (“Kimmel”), a former 
director of compliance at various securities firms. Id. ¶¶ 7, 53-58. The SAC alleges that, although banks 
implement “Chinese walls” between research analyst groups and the investment banking groups, 
compliance departments have certain visibility into both groups to ensure compliance with the “Chinese 
wall” and to ensure that conflicts of interest do not occur between the groups. Id. ¶ 55. Based on 
statements by Kimmel, the SAC further alleges that standard industry practice dictates that once an 
investment banking group has been approached about an opportunity, that group typically alerts the 
compliance department. Id. ¶ 56. It is alleged that notification should occur prior to a formal 
engagement meeting between the investment banking group and the client. Id. 
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The SAC also alleges that, typically, a firm’s compliance department will review and approve any report 
by its research group prior to the publication of the report. Id. ¶ 57. The SAC alleges that the H.C. 
Compliance Department would have been informed of H.C.’s work in connection with MannKind’s 
offering several days before its public announcement. Id. ¶ 58. Further, the SAC alleges that a 
compliance employee must have reviewed and approved the Report. Id. The SAC alleges that this 
person knew or should have known about H.C.’s pending Offering with MannKind when this person 
approved Livnat’s Report for publication. Id.  
 
The SAC also makes allegations as to the experience of a confidential witness (the “CW”) who was 
employed as a Specialty Pharmaceuticals and Biotechnology Equity Research Associate at H.C. from 
November 2016 to August 2017. Id. ¶ 59. It is alleged that, as a research associate, the CW’s duties 
included developing financial models on companies, undertaking research on the science of a given 
company, and supporting analysts who wrote and issued research reports. Id. The SAC alleges that the 
CW confirmed that all analyst reports must be approved for publication by a person in H.C.’s 
Compliance Department who is informed of investment banking activities. Id. ¶ 60. 
 
The SAC alleges that the “failure [of H.C.] to abide by its own internal restrictions, and [its] Compliance 
[Department]’s approval for dissemination of a research report on the date that an offering was 
announced was a gross departure from protocol and was grossly reckless in that it allowed for precisely 
the conflict of interest that [H.C.]’s internal procedures were designed to prevent.” Id. ¶ 62. 

III. Analysis 
 

A. Legal Standards 
 

1. General 
 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a) provides that a “pleading that states a claim for relief must contain . . . a short and 
plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief . . . .” The complaint must state 
facts sufficient to show that a claim for relief is plausible on its face. Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 
U.S. 544, 570 (2007). The complaint need not include detailed factual allegations, but must provide 
more than a “formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action.” Id. at 555. “The plausibility 
standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a sheer possibility that a 
defendant has acted unlawfully. Where a complaint pleads facts that are ‘merely consistent with’ a 
defendant's liability, it stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief.” 
Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  
 
Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a party may move to dismiss for failure to state a claim. It is 
appropriate to grant such a motion only where the complaint lacks a cognizable legal theory or 
sufficient facts to support one. Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. Ctr., 521 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir. 
2008). In considering a motion to dismiss, the allegations in the challenged complaint are deemed true 
and must be construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Cahill v. Liberty Mut. Ins. 
Co., 80 F.3d 336, 337-38 (9th Cir. 1996). However, a court need not “accept as true allegations that 
contradict matters properly subject to judicial notice or by exhibit. Nor is the court required to accept as 
true allegations that are merely conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable 
inferences.” In re Gilead Scis. Sec. Litig., 536 F.3d 1049, 1055 (9th Cir. 2008) (citing Sprewell v. Golden 
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State Warriors, 266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001)). 
 

2. Securities Act 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful for “any person . . . [t]o use or employ, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as 
necessary or . . . for the protection of investors.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). SEC Rule 10b-5, which is based on 
this statute, provides that it is unlawful to “engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.” 17 CFR 240.10b-5.  

In a Rule 10b-5 private action, a plaintiff ordinarily must prove each of the following: (i) a material 
misrepresentation or omission of fact; (ii) scienter by the person who made the statement or caused the 
omission; (iii) the statement or omission was made in connection with the purchase or sale of a 
security; (iv) transactional and loss causation; and (v) economic loss. Zucco Partners, LLC v. Digimarc 
Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 990 (9th Cir. 2009). Deceptive conduct is also actionable under Rule 10b-5. See 
Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148, 158 (2008) (There is no requirement 
under Rule 10b-5 of a “specific oral or written statement . . . . Conduct itself can be deceptive . . . .”). 
 
A complaint advancing claims of securities fraud must satisfy the heightened pleading standards of 
both Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4 
(“PSLRA”). In re VeriFone Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., 704 F.3d 694, 701 (9th Cir. 2012). Rule 9(b) 
requires that a complaint alleging fraud “state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or 
mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); see also Kearns v. Ford Motor Co., 567 F.3d 1120, 1124 (9th Cir. 2009) 
(“Averments of fraud must be accompanied by ‘the who, what, when where, and how’ of the misconduct 
charged.’”) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The “more exacting pleading requirements” of the 
PSLRA require that the complaint plead with particularity both falsity and scienter. Zucco Partners, 552 
F.3d at 990.  
 
In pleading falsity under these standards, a complaint must “specify each statement alleged to have 
been misleading, the reason or reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if an allegation regarding 
the statement or omission is made on information and belief . . . state with particularity all facts on 
which that belief is formed.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1). To plead scienter under these standards, a 
complaint must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted 
with the required state of mind.” Id. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A). “[A] strong inference of scienter must be ‘at least 
as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from the facts alleged.’” City of Dearborn 
Heights Act 345 Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. Align Tech., Inc., 856 F.3d 605, 620 (9th Cir. 2017) (quoting 
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 324 (2007)). Scienter includes “intent to 
deceive, manipulate, or defraud,” and “deliberate recklessness.” City of Dearborn Heights, 856 F.3d at 
619 (citation omitted).3  
 
                                                 
3 “Deliberate recklessness is an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care which presents a danger 
of misleading buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actor must have 
been aware of it.” City of Dearborn Heights, 856 F.3d at 619 (internal quotation marks, brackets, and ellipsis 
omitted). 
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B. Application 
 

1. Overview of the Basis for the Claims and the Motion 
 
The SAC alleges that Defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme artificially to inflate MannKind’s 
stock price through the following conduct: (i) issuing the Report on the morning of October 10, 2017; (ii) 
failing to disclose in the Report either the pending Offering or Defendants’ involvement as placement 
agent; and (iii) finalizing and announcing the Offering on the evening of October 10, 2017. See SAC ¶ 
1. Plaintiff alleges that the misleading nature of the Report is confirmed by the significant increase in 
MannKind’s stock price during trading on October 10, 2017. During that time period, the Report was 
publicly available, but information about the Offering was not. On October 11, 2017, after the Offering 
was disclosed, the price of the stock declined substantially. Id. ¶ 5. 
 
Defendants argue that the SAC should be dismissed for three reasons: (i) it fails adequately to allege 
scienter; (ii) it fails adequately to allege loss causation; and (iii) it fails adequately to allege control 
person violations. 
 

2. Material Misrepresentation or Omission of Fact 
 
The prior Order determined that the FAC adequately pleaded the “material misrepresentation or 
omission of fact” element of a Rule 10b-5 violation. Dkt. 58 at 13-16. It concluded that “[t]he FAC 
adequately alleges that, because the Report failed to disclose the Offering, which was announced 
hours later, it was misleading as to the ‘state of affairs’ it described with respect to MannKind’s stock 
price.” Id. at 14. The prior Order also determined that, because this omission concerned “a 
contemporaneous fact[,] . . . the forward-looking statements safe harbor does not apply.” Id. at 16. 
These same determinations apply to the SAC.  
  

3. Scienter 
 

a) The Prior Order 
 
The prior Order concluded that the FAC did not allege “with sufficient particularity that the Report was 
issued by Defendants with scienter, i.e., knowing that it would mislead potential investors.” Dkt. 58 at 
16. First, it found that “[t]he allegation that certain unidentified H.C. employees would have had to 
perform certain diligence with respect to the Offering prior to its announcement is insufficient to 
establish a strong inference of scienter.” Id. at 16-17 (citing Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324; In re Worlds of 
Wonder Sec. Litig., 35 F.3d 1407, 1425 (9th Cir. 1994) (speculative inferences of suspicious conduct 
cannot, on their own, establish scienter)).  
 
Second, the prior Order explained that “a corporation can only act through its employees and agents 
and can likewise only have scienter through them.” Id. at 17 (internal quotation marks and citation 
omitted). The Order determined that the FAC “failed to allege, with particularity, that any agents of H.C. 
involved in the publication of the Report had the requisite scienter that can be imputed to H.C.” Id. at 
17. It explained that the facts alleged did not give “rise to a strong inference of Livnat’s scienter that is 
‘at least as compelling’ as the one supported by H.C.’s regulatory obligations” to separate their 
investment and research arms. Id. Moreover, it found that the allegation that Viklund is the “primary 
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contact” for H.C.’s research and investment banking teams did not give rise to a strong inference of 
deliberate recklessness. It added that the FAC did not allege Viklund had any direct involvement in the 
Report, and that Plaintiff cannot establish scienter by “imputing the false statements of one agent 
(Livnat) with the alleged scienter of another agent (Viklund).” Id. at 18. 
 
Third, the prior Order concluded that the theory of “collective scienter” was not a sufficient basis to 
show scienter based on the allegations in the FAC. Id. It noted that the Ninth Circuit has not adopted 
the theory of collective scienter and that “the allegations in the FAC -- the Report’s failure to mention 
the Offering -- [were] not ‘so dramatically false’ to warrant a strong inference that at least some 
corporate officials knew that it would mislead investors.” Id. Moreover, “any inference that could be 
drawn from the temporal proximity of the Report and the Offering [wa]s offset by Defendants’ 
representations that FINRA regulations and internal policies meant that corporate officials aware of the 
Report’s recommendations were not aware of the Offering.” Id. Thus, “the allegations in the FAC d[id] 
not warrant [the] application” of collective scienter. Id. 
 
Fourth, the prior Order found insufficient to show a strong inference of scienter Plaintiff’s argument that 
Defendants were motivated by their desire to maximize MannKind’s stock price in the period leading up 
to the Offering. Id. at 18-19: 
 

[A]n alleged motive to commit fraud is not alone sufficient to establish a strong inference 
of scienter. See VeriFone, 704 F.3d at 702. Additionally, allegations of “routine corporate 
objectives,” including the motivation to boost profitability and stock prices in anticipation 
of an IPO or other form of stock offering, are not sufficiently particularized to meet the 
heightened pleading standards. Webb v. Solarcity Corporation, 884 F.3d 844, 856 (9th 
Cir. 2018); see also Lipton v. Pathogenesis Corp., 284 F.3d 1027, 1038 (9th Cir. 2002); 
Schueneman, 840 F.3d at 709 n.8 (“We have cautioned securities plaintiffs that, absent 
some truly compelling allegations, we will not consider routine business behavior (like 
firing people or raising capital) to serve as the basis for scienter.”)). 

 
Id. 
 
Fifth, the prior Order evaluated the allegations and determined that they were not sufficient as to the 
critical nature of the Report and Offering to the operations of H.C., or the importance of the associated 
transaction. Id. at 19. As a result, it was determined that they were not sufficient to warrant an inference 
that H.C.’s key officers like Viklund knew about the contents of the Report and the impending Offering. 
Id. Thus, “[t]he bare allegation that H.C.’s research and investment banking personnel comprised H.C.’s 
core business does not alone establish that information about the Report, and specifically its omission 
of the Offering, was conveyed to Viklund prior to its publication.” Id. 
 
Sixth, the prior Order “engage[d] in a comparative evaluation” to determine “whether all of the facts 
alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong inference of scienter.” Id. (quoting Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 
322-24). As stated in the Order: 
 

Plaintiffs argue that a reasonable inference from the allegations of the FAC, taken as a 
whole, is that Defendants published the Report on October 10, when they knew that the 
Offering would be announced later that day, and with the intent artificially to inflate 
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MannKind’s stock price in anticipation of the Offering, which would reduce the price. 
Under Tellabs, this inference must be weighed against other reasonable inferences 
raised by Defendants. These include that Viklund had no knowledge of the Report, or 
the projections contained in it before it was published, and that Livnat was shielded from 
any information regarding the Offering pursuant to the Chinese Wall, and had 
reasonable bases for the buy recommendation and the $7 target price. See, e.g. Kelly v. 
Elec. Arts, Inc., 71 F. Supp. 3d 1061, 1070 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (projections or statements of 
belief are only actionable if it is not actually believed, there is no reasonable basis for the 
belief, and “the speaker is aware of undisclosed facts tending seriously to undermine the 
statement’s accuracy.”) (citing Kaplan v. Rose, 49 F.3d 1363, 1375 (9th Cir. 1994)). 

 
Id. Based on a review of the facts alleged and a balancing of the competing inferences, the prior Order 
concluded that the FAC did not adequately plead the scienter element as to any of the Defendants. Id.  
 

b) New Allegations in the SAC 
 
As noted, the SAC contains several new allegations that follow from a “consultation and engagement of 
an expert” in compliance and interviews with the CW. SAC at 2. The declaration of Kimmel, who has 
worked as a director of compliance at several securities firms, provides a basis for certain new 
allegations as to “industry custom and practice” regarding the operation of compliance departments. Id. 
¶¶ 53-58. These allegations include (i) “even though investment banks implement ‘Chinese walls’ 
between the research analyst group and the investment banking group, investment banks maintain 
compliance departments that have certain visibility into both groups’ activities”; (ii) “[o]nce the 
investment banking group has been approached about an investment banking engagement, the 
investment banking group will alert compliance,” and “[t]his notification should occur prior to the 
investment banking group’s execution of a formal engagement agreement with the client”; and (iii)  
“pursuant to industry practice, a firm’s compliance department must review and approve any report by 
its research group prior to its release and/or publication,” which “includes checking to see whether the 
company that is the subject of the research report is on the ‘watch list’ of investment banking clients.” 
Id. ¶¶ 55-57.  
 
The CW also confirmed the “standard procedures” of H.C. that were allegedly in place during his tenure 
with the firm from November 2016 to August 2017. Id. ¶ 59. The CW reported that “all analyst reports 
must be approved for publication by a person in [H.C.]’s Compliance Department, who is also informed 
of all investment banking activities and who checks on the activities of the investment banking group for 
potential conflicts.” Id. ¶ 60. The SAC alleges that the “CW found the publication of Livnat’s report 
within hours of MannKind’s Offering unusual, believing it should have been prevented by the 
restrictions [H.C.] was supposed to have in place.” Id. ¶ 61. Through the new allegations as to Kimmel 
and the CW, the SAC seeks to provide support for two alternative inferences, i.e., either (i) an unknown 
employee in the Compliance Department acted with deliberate recklessness or fraudulent intent when 
he or she approved the release of the Report despite its omission regarding the Offering; or (ii) this 
employee was never alerted about the Offering as a result of the deliberate recklessness, or intentional 
fraudulent conduct, of Defendants.  
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Plaintiff contends that these new allegations, taken together with the previous ones, are sufficient to 
support a strong inference of scienter. Defendants respond that these allegations are pure speculation, 
lacking in any specific factual support for the proposition that any H.C. employee was aware of both the 
Offering and the Report, prior to its publication. Defendants point out that Kimmel never worked for H.C. 
and lacks any specific knowledge as to H.C.’s internal practices and procedures. Defendants add that 
the CW did not work at H.C. during the relevant time period and had no personal knowledge of either 
the Report or the Offering. Defendants argue that, rather than allege facts, the SAC resorts to “a litany 
of ‘would haves,’ . . . ‘should haves,’ . . . and ‘in all likelihoods.’” Dkt. 71-1 at 22. Defendants add that 
the SAC fails to allege any facts demonstrating that MannKind had “even informally engaged H.C. prior 
to publication of the Report.” Id. at 26. Thus, Defendants argue, no “compliance employee halted 
publication” because either MannKind had not yet engaged H.C. or no one in compliance had 
knowledge of the engagement. Id. Plaintiff responds that Defendants seek to impose too rigorous a 
burden. Scienter need not be shown “through direct evidence of culpable knowledge,” and “courts 
repeatedly emphasize that circumstantial evidence is sufficient to demonstrate scienter.” Dkt. 78 at 19.  
 

c) Analysis 
 

(1) In General 
 

To establish scienter, Plaintiff must allege that Defendants acted with “intent to deceive, manipulate, or 
defraud,” or were otherwise deliberately reckless. City of Dearborn Heights, 856 F.3d at 619 (quoting 
Schueneman v. Arena Pharm., Inc., 840 F.3d 698, 705 (9th Cir. 2016)). “Facts showing mere 
recklessness or a motive to commit fraud and opportunity to do so provide some reasonable inference 
of intent, but are not sufficient to establish a strong inference of deliberate recklessness” required to 
show scienter. VeriFone, 704 F.3d at 701. Accordingly, in order to survive a motion to dismiss, a strong 
inference of scienter must be “at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from 
the facts alleged.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324.  
 
Furthermore, “a corporation ‘can only act through its employees and agents’ and can likewise only have 
scienter through them.’” In re ChinaCast Educ. Corp. Sec. Litig., 809 F.3d 471, 475 (9th Cir. 2015) 
(quoting Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominon Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 101 (2d Cir. 2001)). H.C. 
cannot “know” or “intend” anything; it is the intent of its employees that must be imputed to it through 
traditional agency principles. See id. at 475-76; see also Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 
1564, 1577 n.28 (9th Cir. 1990) (a corporation is responsible for a corporate officer’s fraud committed 
“within the scope of his employment” or “for a misleading statement made by an employee or other 
agent who has actual or apparent authority.”).  
 
As stated in the prior Order, “[t]he allegation that certain unidentified H.C. employees would have had to 
perform certain diligence with respect to the Offering prior to its announcement is insufficient to 
establish a strong inference of scienter.” Dkt. 58 at 16-17 (citing Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324; In re Worlds 
of Wonder Sec. Litig., 35 F.3d 1407, 1425 (9th Cir. 1994) (speculative inferences of suspicious conduct 
cannot, on their own, establish scienter)). The new allegations in the SAC regarding Kimmel and the 
CW do not counsel a different outcome. The new allegations provide some additional support for the 
argument that certain employees would have had to perform diligence. However, they remain unduly 
vague and speculative. They attest to industry custom, as well as H.C.’s general adherence to the 
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practice of maintaining a Chinese Wall, but they do not provide specific, factual support as to the 
Report and/or Offering.  
 
The factual allegations of the SAC could plausibly support several innocent explanations, including (i) 
the engagement of H.C. with respect to the Offering did not precede issuance of the Report; or (ii) the 
failure to flag any potential conflict between the Report and Offering arose from negligence rather than 
“an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care which presents a danger of misleading 
buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actor must have been 
aware of it.” City of Dearborn Heights, 856 F.3d at 619 (internal quotation marks, brackets, and ellipsis 
omitted). Particularly in light of H.C.’s regulatory obligation to separate its investment and research 
arms, and certain factual gaps in the allegations of the SAC, the SAC does not establish a strong 
inference of scienter that is “cogent and at least as compelling as any opposing inference of 
nonfraudulent intent.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 314. Further, an inference of “ordinary carelessness,” or 
even gross negligence, is not sufficient. DSAM Glob. Value Fund v. Altris Software, Inc., 288 F.3d 385, 
387, 390 (9th Cir. 2002). But, as the SAC has been pleaded, that inference is the most compelling one 
here.   
 

(2) Individualized Scienter 
 
The SAC identifies three employees and officers of H.C. each of whom allegedly played a role in the 
production of the Report and/or the Offering. They are: Livnat, Viklund and Silvera. The SAC makes no 
new allegations as to Livnat, nor is his scienter discussed in Plaintiff’s opposition to the Motion. At the 
hearing on the Motion, Plaintiff’s counsel acknowledged that no new allegations had been presented as 
to Livnat. Thus, the conclusions of the prior Order are unchanged as to the scienter of Livnat. As with 
the FAC, “it has not been alleged that Livnat, who wrote the Report, knew the Offering was imminent 
when he published the Report.” Dkt. 58 at 17. So too,  
 

[a]though the existence of [the FINRA] regulations does not confirm that they were 
followed, that H.C. was under a statutory and regulatory obligation to have such 
information barriers to protect against the misuse of material nonpublic information, see 
15 U.S.C. § 78o(g), at minimum gives rise to the inference that Livnat did not know the 
Offering was to be announced on October 10, 2017. Plaintiffs have not alleged any facts 
giving rise to a strong inference of Livnat’s scienter that is “at least as compelling” as the 
one supported by H.C.’s regulatory obligations. See Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324.  

 
Id.4  
 
The SAC also does not make new, material allegations as to the scienter of Viklund. The sole new 

                                                 
4 The same direct claim against Livnat alleged in the FAC is repeated in the SAC. There has been no amendment 
to address the deficiencies identified in the prior Order. Although a court should “freely give leave [to amend] 
when justice so requires,” allowing leave to amend is inappropriate in circumstances where litigants have failed to 
cure previously identified deficiencies, or where an amendment would be futile. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2); See 
Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962); Allen v. City of Beverly Hills, 911 F.2d 367, 374 (9th Cir. 1990). In light 
of Plaintiff’s failure to make any material amendments as to the direct claim against Livnat, it is appropriate to 
dismiss this claim with prejudice.  
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allegation as to Viklund is that he “possessed the power and authority to control the policies and 
procedures of [H.C.]’s Compliance Department to ensure that they did not allow research reports to be 
published in blatant violation of industry custom and practice.” SAC ¶ 16. That Viklund had the authority 
to control certain policies and procedures of the Compliance Department does not mean that he was 
directly involved with the issuance of the Report. Thus, the conclusions of the prior Order are also 
unchanged as to the involvement of Viklund, to the extent his intent could be imputed to H.C. to 
establish its scienter. The allegations as to Viklund remain insufficient both: (i) to give rise to a strong 
inference of deliberate recklessness or an intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud; and (ii) to indicate 
that Viklund had any direct involvement with the issuance of the Report. Dkt. 58 at 17-18. Moreover, as 
the prior Order found, “corporate scienter may not be established by imputing the false statements of 
one agent (Livnat) with the alleged scienter of another agent (Viklund).” Id. at 18.  
 
The SAC adds new allegations regarding Silvera, who is the COO of H.C., but who was not previously 
identified as a relevant actor. The SAC alleges that Silvera “drafted, negotiated, and executed the 
Placement Agency Agreement, dated October 10, 2017 between [H.C.] and MannKind.” SAC ¶ 15.5 
The SAC also alleges that H.C.’s compliance personnel reported both to the Chief Compliance Officer 
and to Silvera, and that Silvera had “the power and authority to control the approval and publication of 
the reports disseminated by [H.C.]’s analysts, including Livnat, as well as their content and timing.” Id. ¶ 
17. However, as with Viklund, Plaintiff does not allege that Silvera had any direct involvement with the 
issuance of the Report. At most, this allegation could serve as a basis to establish the opportunity for 
involvement. This is consistent with the absence of an allegation that Silvera has liability under Section 
10(b) or Rule 10b-5. Moreover, as explained in the prior Order, “corporate scienter may not be 
established by imputing the false statements of one agent (Livnat) with the alleged scienter of another 
agent,” such as Silvera. Dkt. 58 at 18.  
 
The “core operations doctrine” does not warrant a different outcome. Under that doctrine, the pleading 
requirements of the PSLRA “may be satisfied, in certain circumstances, by ‘a scienter theory that infers 
that facts critical to a business’s ‘core operations’ or an important transaction are known to a company’s 
key officers.’” In re NVIDIA Corp. Sec. Litig., 768 F.3d 1046, 1063 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting South Ferry 
LP, No. 2 v. Killinger, 542 F.3d 776, 783-84 (9th Cir. 2008)). However, “corporate management’s 
general awareness of the day-to-day workings of the company’s business does not establish scienter—
at least absent some additional allegation of specific information conveyed to management and related 
to the fraud.” South Ferry, 542 F.3d at 785 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).  
 
As with the FAC, “[t]he bare allegation that H.C.’s research and investment banking personnel 
comprised H.C.’s core business does not alone establish that information about the Report, and 
specifically its omission of the Offering, was conveyed to Viklund [or Silvera] prior to its publication.” 
Dkt. 58 at 19. For the foregoing reasons, the SAC fails to allege with sufficient particularity facts that 
give rise to a strong inference of scienter of Livnat, Viklund or Silvera that can be imputed to H.C.  
 

(3) Collective Scienter Doctrine 
 
Plaintiff argues that “courts have held that plaintiffs can plead scienter against a corporation by alleging 
                                                 
5 The FAC alleged that the Placement Agency Agreement was signed by Viklund, but that allegation has been 
amended in the SAC to reflect that it was Silvera who signed the agreement. Compare FAC ¶ 39 with SAC ¶ 42.   
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that some unspecified person at a large corporation must have had knowledge of wrongful conduct.” 
Dkt. 78 at 20. Plaintiff contends that “[h]ere, the inference of scienter is even stronger because the 
industry expert and confidential witness point to a single department [the Compliance Department] 
comprised of three or fewer individuals.” Id. at 21. Defendants respond that the doctrine of collective 
scienter is not established in the Ninth Circuit, and, even if it were, the allegations of the SAC are 
insufficient to support it. Defendants argue that the scienter allegations are vague and speculative, and 
that the SAC lacks the foundational allegations necessary to show that compliance personnel knew, or 
even “could have known,” about the Offering at the time they were reviewing the Report. Dkt. 71-1 at 
18-19.   
 
“[T]he collective scienter (or corporate scienter) doctrine recognizes that it is possible to raise the 
inference of scienter without doing so for a specific individual.” NVIDIA, 768 F.3d at 1063. The Ninth 
Circuit has neither adopted nor rejected the theory of collective scienter. Glazer Capital Mgmt., LP v. 
Magistri, 549 F.3d 736, 744-45 (9th Cir. 2008). However, it has observed that, “in certain 
circumstances, some form of collective scienter pleading might be appropriate,” such as where “a 
company's public statements were so important and so dramatically false that they would create a 
strong inference that at least some corporate officials knew of the falsity upon publication.” Id. at 744.  
 
Even assuming Plaintiff could proceed on a theory of collective scienter, the allegations of the SAC are 
not sufficient to support it. The prior Order determined that “the allegations in the FAC -- the Report’s 
failure to mention the Offering -- are not ‘so dramatically false’ to warrant a strong inference that at least 
some corporate officials knew that it would mislead investors.” Dkt. 58 at 18 (quoting NVIDIA, 768 F.3d 
at 1063). This conclusion applies with equal force to the SAC. The omission of the Offering in the 
Report is not so obvious that it warrants a strong inference of scienter. The omission here is of a 
different character than the hypothetical misrepresentation discussed in Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. 
Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702, 710 (7th Cir. 2008) (hypothetical in which “General Motors announced that it 
had sold one million SUVs in 2006, and the actual number was zero”). The Report presented an 
incomplete picture, but it was not “so important and so dramatically false” to “create a strong inference 
that at least some corporate officials knew of the falsity upon publication.” Glazer, 549 F.3d at 744.  
 
To the extent the SAC focuses on unidentified members of the H.C. Compliance Department, the SAC 
lacks sufficient allegations that, if established, would show: (i) assuming the engagement of H.C. with 
respect to the Offering predated the Compliance Department’s review of the Report, the Compliance 
Department was informed of the Offering by that time; and (ii) if it was, that the failure of the compliance 
personnel to flag the potential conflict arose from something more than negligence. The new allegations 
of the SAC may support the proposition that the Compliance Department failed to follow best practices 
when it vetted the Report, but they do not provide a sufficient basis to infer scienter. Accord DSAM, 288 
F.3d at 390 (“allegations that an accountant negligently failed to closely review files or follow GAAP 
[Generally Accepted Accounting Principles] cannot raise a strong inference of scienter”). The 
allegations as to what the Compliance Department should have or would have known, and therefore 
should have or would have done, if all members of the firm had adhered to the purported industry 
custom, are too indefinite to demonstrate the contrary.   
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(4) Holistic Review of Bases for Scienter 
 
A complaint is pleaded adequately where “the total of plaintiffs' allegations, even though individually 
lacking, are sufficient to create a strong inference that defendants acted with deliberate or conscious 
recklessness.” In re Daou Sys., Inc., 411 F.3d 1006, 1022 (9th Cir. 2005). “[T]o determine whether a 
complaint’s scienter allegations can survive threshold inspection for sufficiency,” a district court “must 
engage in a comparative evaluation; it must consider, not only the inferences urged by the plaintiff . . . 
but also competing inferences rationally drawn from the facts alleged.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 323-24. The 
inquiry is “whether all of the facts alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong inference of scienter, 
not whether any individual allegation, scrutinized in isolation, meets that standard.” Id. at 322-23 
(emphasis in original); see also Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893, 897 (9th Cir. 2002).  
 
The prior Order concluded that the facts alleged, taken collectively, failed to give rise to a strong 
inference of scienter: 
 

Plaintiffs argue that a reasonable inference from the allegations of the FAC, taken as a 
whole, is that Defendants published the Report on October 10, when they knew that the 
Offering would be announced later that day, and with the intent artificially to inflate 
MannKind’s stock price in anticipation of the Offering, which would reduce the price. 
Under Tellabs, this inference must be weighed against other reasonable inferences 
raised by Defendants. These include that Viklund had no knowledge of the Report, or 
the projections contained in it before it was published, and that Livnat was shielded from 
any information regarding the Offering pursuant to the Chinese Wall, and had 
reasonable bases for the buy recommendation and the $7 target price. 

 
Dkt. 58 at 19. The parties dispute whether the new allegations of the SAC, primarily those regarding 
Kimmel and the CW, require a different outcome.  
 
Defendants contend that the allegations about Kimmel and the CW as to industry practices and the 
operation of the Compliance Department at H.C. “only strengthen” Defendants’ arguments that H.C. 
operates with “sophisticated, detailed compliance procedures in place to ensure that research is not 
published if the firm is engaged to act as placement agent for an offering.” Dkt. 71-1 at 25. Defendants 
then argue that the SAC “does not allege with any particularity that any specific compliance employee 
was aware of the Offering at the time the Report was published.” Id. at 13. According to the 
Defendants, the SAC also fails to allege that any compliance personnel “were aware of the Offering at 
the time of their review or even that the Offering had in fact materialized prior to publication of the 
Report.” Id. at 19. Defendants argue that the allegations of Kimmel and the CW comprise “a litany of 
‘would haves,’ . . . ‘should haves,’ . . . and ‘in all likelihoods’ . . . that are undeniably insufficient to 
support a strong inference of scienter.” Id. at 17. Defendants contend that the inference that 
Defendants acted with gross recklessness is outweighed by the “stronger inference that H.C.’s 
compliance protocols worked properly and the reason no compliance employee halted publication of 
the Report is that MannKind had not yet engaged H.C. (or at the least, no one from compliance had 
knowledge of that) prior to the Report’s publication.” Id. at 26. 
 
Plaintiff responds that the allegations regarding H.C.’s Compliance Department give rise to the 
inference that “a person in H.C.’s compliance department had knowledge or recklessly disregarded” the 
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engagement of the investment banking division with MannKind. Dkt. 78 at 20. Plaintiff asserts that it is 
customary for firms in the securities industry to have a Compliance Department, that this department 
has access to the investment and research teams to ensure compliance, and that the Compliance 
Department must approve all outgoing reports to prevent conflicts. Plaintiff argues that under controlling 
Ninth Circuit precedent, inferences “can be drawn from accounts of former employees concerning the 
type of information that management ‘would have’ received in connection with a particular transaction.” 
Dkt. 78 at 19. Thus, they rely on CW’s statements as to the standard practice of H.C.’s Compliance 
Department in reviewing reports for conflicts, and the allegations of the SAC that H.C. would have 
undertaken numerous steps to finalize the Offering before it was publicly announced. On this basis, 
they contend that the allegations in the SAC give rise to a strong inference that “H.C.’s work in 
connection with the Offering started before the Report was issued, as the details of the Offering were 
publicly disclosed 14 hours after the Report was issued and the relevant documents . . . had already 
been completed and executed.” Id. at 22. Accordingly, Plaintiff contends that there is a strong inference 
that someone in H.C.’s Compliance Department had “knowledge or recklessly disregarded” the material 
omission in the Report. 
 
Plaintiff relies on In re Finisar Corp to support the argument that the circumstantial allegations of the 
SAC are sufficient as to scienter. 5:11-CV-01252-EJD, 2017 WL 1549485 (N.D. Cal. May 1, 2017). 
Finisar is distinguishable. There, the circumstantial evidence presented was tied to the specific 
transaction at issue, including statements from confidential witnesses familiar with the challenged 
actions. The allegations were also tied to specific factual matter, including the timing of relevant 
disclosures. Here, the new allegations in the SAC address industry custom and general practices. 
There are no allegations in which either Kimmel or the CW attested to matters tied specifically to the 
MannKind Offering or the Report.  
 
Plaintiff also relies on Desta v. Wins Finance Holdings where the district court found allegations as to 
circumstantial matters sufficient to support a strong inference of scienter. The operative complaint in 
Desta alleged that the individual defendants, who were the Co-CEOs, COO, and CFO of the company, 
“must have known” the location of the company’s principal executive offices when they signed SEC 
filings that falsely stated that those offices were in New York, not China. No. 2:17-CV-02983-CAS-
AGRx, 2018 WL 1136525, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 28, 2018). Knowledge of such a fundamental element 
of a business operation is reasonably expected of such senior executives. The alleged omission in the 
Report is of a different nature and does not support such an inference of knowledge by an executive. 
This determination is also consistent with the FINRA regulations, which require a separation between 
the investment and research components of entities like H.C.     
 
Plaintiff next cites Brown v. China Integrated Energy, Inc. and argues that Brown supports its 
contention that scienter can be established by alleging that “some unspecified person” within the H.C.’s 
Compliance Department “must have had knowledge of [the] wrongful conduct.” Dkt. 78 at 20; 875 F. 
Supp. 2d 1096, 1123 (C.D. Cal. 2012). Again, Brown is distinguishable. The defendants in Brown 
claimed that the Tongchuan factory in China was producing tens of thousands of tons of biodiesel per 
quarter, which resulted in 20% of total company sales. 875 F. Supp. 2d at 1123. In fact, the factory was 
not operating. Id. Although the operative complaint did not present detailed allegations about what the 
defendant’s officers and directors knew about the Tongchuan factory, the court concluded that the 
magnitude of the claimed production, the company’s false representations to the SEC, and the 
allegation that the company CFO was onsite at the factory during an allegedly fraudulent tour for 

Case 2:17-cv-07926-JAK-AS   Document 84   Filed 07/02/19   Page 14 of 16   Page ID #:1078



 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CIVIL MINUTES – GENERAL 
  

Case No. LA CV17-07926 JAK (ASx) 
 
Date 

 
July 2, 2019  

Title 
 
Daniela Prodanova v. H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, et al. 

 

Page 15 of 16 
 

prospective investors, collectively gave rise to a strong inference of scienter. Id. The allegations in the 
SAC are not aligned with those of the “complete hoax” identified in Brown. Id.; see also Makor Issues & 
Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702 (7th Cir. 2008) (there “would be a strong inference of 
corporate scienter without being able to name the individuals who concocted and disseminated the 
fraud” where a hypothetical company “announced that it had sold one million [items] in 2006, and the 
actual number was zero”).  
 
The allegations of the SAC could support a range of inferences. These include conduct with fraudulent 
intent, i.e., at the time the Report was issued, someone at H.C. with the requisite authority knew about 
the alleged omissions in the Report as well as the forthcoming Offering, yet allowed the Report to issue 
just prior to the Offering. Another inference could be deliberate recklessness, i.e., someone in the 
Compliance Department turned a “blind eye” to the available information when approving the issuance 
of the Report. However, negligence or “mere recklessness” could also be inferred. For example, one 
such inference is that someone in the Compliance Department made a negligent review of the Report 
before its issuance. Another is that a person in the Investment Banking Department negligently failed 
timely to notify the Compliance Department about the pending Offering. As the SAC has been pleaded, 
the latter category of inferences is the most compelling.      
 
For the foregoing reasons, the allegations of the SAC do not adequately support a strong inference of 
scienter that is “at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from the facts 
alleged.” City of Dearborn Heights, 856 F.3d at 620.    
 

4. Loss Causation 
 
Loss causation requires pleading a nexus between the alleged material misrepresentation and the loss 
suffered. See Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 342 (2005). The heightened pleading 
standards under Rule 9(b) apply to this element of a securities fraud claim. Or. Pub. Emps. Ret. Fund v. 
Apollo Grp. Inc., 774 F.3d 598, 605 (9th Cir. 2014). As the prior Order explained, “[b]ecause it has been 
determined that the FAC fails adequately to plead scienter, the question of whether the FAC adequately 
pleads loss causation need not be reached.” Dkt. 58 at 19; see Zucco Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Corp., 
552 F.3d 981, 987 n.1 (9th Cir. 2009). This reasoning continues to apply.  
 

5. Section 20(a) Control Person Liability Claims 
 
To establish a prima facie case under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, a plaintiff must prove a 
primary violation of federal securities laws and that an individual defendant exercised actual power or 
control over the primary violator. See In re Arrowhead Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 16-cv-08505-PSG, 
2017 WL 5635422, at *13 (citing Howard v. Everex Sys., Inc., 228 F.3d 1057, 1065 (9th Cir. 2000)); see 
also 15 U.S.C. § 78t-1(a). Therefore, “Section 20(a) claims may be dismissed summarily . . . if a plaintiff 
fails to plead a primary violation of [S]ection 10(b).” Zucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 990. Because the SAC 
fails adequately to allege a primary violation of Section 10(b), the derivative Section 20(a) claims 
against Viklund and Silvera also fail. 
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IV. Conclusion 
 
For the reasons stated in this Order, the Motion is GRANTED, with prejudice as to Livnat, and without 
prejudice as to all other defendants. Any amended complaint shall be filed no later than July 23, 2019. 
 
IT IS SO ORDERED. 
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